

Explanatory note on the determination of newly expressed protein levels in the context of genetically modified plant applications for EU market authorisation

Konstantinos Paraskevopoulos, Matthew Ramon, Tamas Dalmay, Patrick Du Jardin, Josep Casacuberta, Philippe Guerche, Huw Jones, Fabien Nogué, Christophe Robaglia, Nils Rostoks

▶ To cite this version:

Konstantinos Paraskevopoulos, Matthew Ramon, Tamas Dalmay, Patrick Du Jardin, Josep Casacuberta, et al.. Explanatory note on the determination of newly expressed protein levels in the context of genetically modified plant applications for EU market authorisation. EFSA Supporting Publications, 2018, 15 (8), pp.1-13. 10.2903/sp.efsa.2018.EN-1466 . hal-04009571

HAL Id: hal-04009571 https://hal.inrae.fr/hal-04009571v1

Submitted on 1 Mar 2023 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

TECHNICAL REPORT

APPROVED: 23 July 2018 doi:10.2903/sp.efsa.2018.EN-1466

Explanatory note on the determination of newly expressed protein levels in the context of genetically modified plant applications for EU market authorisation

European Food Safety Authority (EFSA),

Konstantinos Paraskevopoulos, Matthew Ramon, Tamas Dalmay, Patrick du Jardin, Josep Casacuberta, Philippe Guerche, Huw Jones, Fabien Nogué, Christophe Robaglia, Nils Rostoks

Abstract

Genetically modified organisms are subject to a risk assessment and regulatory approval before entering the European market. According to legislation (Directive 2001/18/EC, Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 and Regulation (EU) No 503/2013) and the EFSA guidance documents on the risk assessment of food and feed from genetically modified (GM) plants and on the environmental risk assessment of GM plants, applicants need to perform a molecular characterisation of any DNA sequence inserted in the GM plant genome. When a GM plant is designed to produce one or more newly expressed proteins, an aspect of the risk assessment process is to characterise these proteins and to reliably determine their levels in the GM plant tissues. A number of methods to measure protein expression levels are used and several experimental factors within these methods are of critical importance in order to obtain reliable results. This explanatory note provides details on key methodological aspects for the determination of newly expressed protein levels that should be considered and reported by applicants in order to harmonise the information in GM plant applications submitted to EFSA.

© European Food Safety Authority, 2018

Key words: GM plant, protein extraction, protein quantification, molecular characterisation, risk assessment

Requestor: EFSA Question number: EFSA-Q-2016-00231 Correspondence: gmo@efsa.europa.eu

www.efsa.europa.eu/publications







Acknowledgements: EFSA wishes to thank the following for the support provided to this scientific output: Silvia Federici, Andrea Gennaro, José Ángel Gómez Ruiz, Anna Lanzoni, Claudia Paoletti, Nikoletta Papadopoulou and Elisabeth Waigmann.

Suggested citation: EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), Paraskevopoulos K, Ramon M, Dalmay T, du Jardin P, Casacuberta J, Guerche P, Jones H, Nogué F, Robaglia C, Rostoks, N 2018. Explanatory note on the determination of newly expressed protein levels in the context of genetically modified plant applications for EU market authorisation. EFSA supporting publication 2018:EN-1466. 13 pp. doi:10.2903/sp.efsa.2018.EN-1466

ISSN: 2397-8325

© European Food Safety Authority, 2018

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.



Summary

Genetically modified organisms (GMOs) are subject to a risk assessment and regulatory approval before entering the European market. According to legislation (Directive 2001/18/EC¹, Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003² and Regulation (EU) No 503/2013³) and the EFSA guidance documents on the risk assessment of food and feed from genetically modified (GM) plants (EFSA, GMO Panel 2011) and on the environmental risk assessment of GM plants (EFSA GMO Panel, 2010), applicants need to perform a molecular characterisation of any DNA sequence inserted in the GM plant genome. In many cases these inserted sequences are intended to express new protein(s). Knowledge on the levels of these proteins is required for their characterisation and to assess the exposure to these newly expressed proteins (NEPs) in the context of food/feed and environmental safety. In addition, such data are used as part of the assessment of potential interactions between events stacked in GM plants and in particular on interactions affecting NEP levels. A number of methods to measure protein expression levels are used and several experimental factors within these methods are of critical importance in order to obtain reliable results.

This explanatory note provides details on the key methodological aspects of the determination of NEP levels that should be considered and reported by applicants in order to harmonise the information in GM plant applications submitted to EFSA. However, this document is not intended to recommend any specific experimental approach.

The two main steps for a targeted protein quantification methodology are discussed: sample preparation and extraction of the NEP(s), and the analytical method employed to quantify the NEP(s). In addition, recommendations are presented as regards the description and reporting of the methodology used and data obtained.

¹ Directive 2001/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 March 2001 on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms and repealing Council Directive 90/220/EEC. OJ L 106, 17.4.2001, p. 1-38.

² Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on genetically modified food and feed. OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 1–23.

³ Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 503/2013 of 3 April 2013 on applications for authorisation of genetically modified food and feed in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council and amending Commission Regulations (EC) No 641/2004 and (EC) No 1981/2006. OJ L157, 8.6.2013, p. 1–48.



Table of contents

Abstract	1
Summary	3
1. Introduction	5
2. Background	5
2.1. Terms of reference	5
2.2. Transition period	5
3. Data and methodologies	5
4. Required information	6
4.1. Extraction of the NEP(s) from GM plant tissues	6
4.1.1. Protein extraction efficiency	6
4.1.2. Tissue disruption/cell lysis	6
4.1.3. Extraction buffer	7
4.2. Quantification of the NEPs from GM plant tissues	
4.2.1. Validation and quality parameters of the analytical method	7
4.2.1.1.Sensitivity	7
4.2.1.2.Matrix effects	8
4.2.1.3.Specificity	8
4.2.1.4.Repeatability	8
4.2.2. Additional considerations for the analytical method	8
4.2.2.1.Reference standards	8
4.2.2.2.Reference plant materials	
4.2.2.3.Antibodies	
4.2.2.4. Stability of plant material and tissue extracts	9
4.2.2.5.Specific information requirements for MS-based methods	9
4.2.2.6.Analysis of processed food/feed	
4.3. Description/reporting of the information	10
References	11
Abbreviations	13



1. Introduction

According to relevant legislation (Directive 2001/18/EC, Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 and Regulation (EU) No 503/2013) and the EFSA guidance documents on the risk assessment of food and feed from GM plants (EFSA GMO Panel, 2011) and on the environmental risk assessment of GM plants (EFSA GMO Panel, 2010), applicants need to perform a molecular characterisation of the genetically modified plant. In many cases the GM plants express new protein(s). As part of their characterisation, the levels of these proteins must be determined. A number of methods to measure protein expression levels are used and several experimental factors within these methods are of critical importance in order to obtain reliable results. In this explanatory note, EFSA provides details on what information should be submitted on the determination of NEP levels in GM plant applications submitted to EFSA.

2. Background

When a GM plant is designed to express one or more NEPs, an aspect of the risk assessment process is to characterise these NEPs and also to reliably determine their levels in the GM plant tissues. Knowledge on the levels of these proteins is required for their characterisation and to assess the exposure to these NEPs in the context of food/feed and environmental safety. In addition, such data are used as part of the assessment of potential interactions between events stacked in GM plants and in particular on interactions affecting NEP levels.

2.1. Terms of reference

This explanatory note is based on the risk assessment principles and data requirements outlined in guidance documents developed by EFSA and its GMO Panel (EFSA GMO Panel, 2010 and EFSA GMO Panel 2011), and relevant legislation, i.e. Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 and Regulation (EU) No 503/2013 on GM food and feed, and Directive 2001/18/EC on the deliberate release of GMOs into the environment.

It provides details on the key methodological aspects of the determination of NEP levels that should be considered and reported by applicants in order to harmonise the information in GM plant applications submitted to EFSA. However, this document is not intended to recommend any specific experimental approach.

2.2. Transition period

In line with the indicative timelines for submitting molecular datasets that require the generation of plant material (EFSA, 2014), the recommendations described in this explanatory note will be applicable for GM plant applications submitted 24 months after its publication. However, applicants are recommended to take into account the elements described in this document for all applications submitted after its publication.

A transition period of two months applies to those elements for which only the provision of information is recommended, such as:

- a description of how the plant material was collected including the number of analysed plants
- a description of all the experimental protocols including those for method validation
- information on all the critical methodological parameters and any associated limitations and method deviations
- the provision and description of representative standard curves (see Section 4.2.1.1)
- information on the reference standards used (see Section 4.2.2.1)
- information on the antibodies used for immuno-based analytical methods (see Section 4.2.2.3).

3. Data and methodologies

In developing this explanatory note, EFSA consulted experts from its molecular characterisation working group and took into account the principles and requirements defined in the relevant legislation and the GMO Panel guidelines for the risk assessment of GM plants and derived food and feed (EFSA GMO Panel, 2011) and the environmental risk assessment of GM plants (EFSA GMO Panel,

www.efsa.europa.eu/publications



2010) for the expression of the inserted/modified sequence(s) leading to the production of NEPs. In addition, guidance documents on bioanalytical method validation parameters published by other regulatory authorities, as well as data from published scientific literature, and experience from previously assessed EFSA GM plant applications were considered.

4. Required information

The determination of NEP levels in GM plant tissues requires the use of an appropriate analytical method to detect and quantify the NEP(s). The NEP analytical methods discussed in this document are antibody-based methods such as ELISA and immunoblotting/western blot analysis as well as mass spectrometry (MS) methods, such as liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) (e.g. Andreasson et al., 2015; Crespo et al., 2008; Grothaus et al., 2006; Kruve et al., 2015a,b; Liebler and Zimmerman, 2013; Pan et al., 2009; Schmidt and Alarcon, 2011; Settlage et al., 2017). These methods are the most commonly used approaches for NEP quantification reported in dossiers submitted for GM market authorisation in the EU. More extensive reference is made to the ELISA methodology because the majority of datasets on NEP quantification are produced by this experimental approach. Even though the principles and considerations described in this document are discussed in the frame of the above-mentioned experimental approaches, many of these are also valid for other bioanalytical methods.

The two main steps of a targeted protein quantification methodology are discussed: sample preparation and extraction of the NEP (Section 4.1), and the analytical method employed to quantify the NEP (Section 4.2). In addition, recommendations for the description and reporting of the methodology used and resulting data are presented in Section 4.3.

4.1. Extraction of the NEP(s) from GM plant tissues

The adequate extraction of proteins from GM plant tissues is a critical step for a reliable determination of NEP levels in the GM plant. The extraction process should be robust and should ensure that the NEP is not unintentionally biochemically modified (e.g. degraded or aggregated) so it can be reliably quantified by the chosen analytical method, and its efficiency must be determined. With this in mind, a number of experimental and data quality parameters are discussed below.

4.1.1. Protein extraction efficiency

In order to comprehensively inform the GM plant risk assessment, the total amount of the NEP in the analysed tissues must be determined. However, complete extraction of the NEP present in a tissue can be difficult to achieve and the efficiency of the chosen extraction method is often limited by factors such as the molecular properties of the NEP and choice of extraction buffer. Consequently, a significant amount of the NEP may remain in the insoluble fraction after extraction and should be quantified to estimate the extraction efficiency of the chosen method. Extraction efficiency is defined as the amount of extracted protein relative to the total amount in the plant tissue, expressed as a percentage. To estimate the total amount of protein in the plant tissue, the NEP present in the insoluble fraction should be extracted under strong denaturing ('harsh') conditions (e.g. Laemmli buffer and extensive sample heating and/or acidic/alkaline treatments) and quantified by western blot analysis (Matsuo et al., 2006; Martínez-García et al., 1999; Schmidt and Alarcon, 2011). Once the extraction efficiency is determined it must be taken into account when calculating the final NEP levels present in the plant tissues.

4.1.2. Tissue disruption/cell lysis

The choice of tissue disruption/cell lysis protocol and equipment used depends on factors such as particle size (after tissue grinding), tissue-to-buffer ratios, plant species or type of tissue to be analysed (Grothaus et al., 2006). The applicant should justify the chosen protocol.

As regards tissue-to-buffer ratio, an appropriate volume of extraction buffer should be applied to reduce the effects of the tissue matrix on the molecular stability of the target NEP (Laing and Christeller, 2004) (see Section 4.2.1.2).



The use of either fresh or lyophilised tissue for protein extraction is acceptable. However, protein extraction from fresh tissues with high water content (e.g. fresh leaves or roots typically contain 80–90% water) might result in significant molecular instability (e.g. degradation or aggregation) of the NEP(s) or increased sample heterogeneity. Thus, extracting proteins from lyophilised material is recommended.

Additional steps (e.g. an enrichment step) may be needed in some specific cases, taking into account aspects such as NEP sub-localisation (e.g. membrane-associated proteins or nuclear proteins such as transcription factors). If such additional steps are taken, they should be clearly described and justified.

4.1.3. Extraction buffer

The buffer used for the protein extraction should not significantly interfere with the downstream analytical method.

The possible underestimation of NEP levels caused by protein degradation due to the presence of proteases is considered important and therefore protease inhibitors (typically a protease inhibitor cocktail) should be included in the extraction buffer (e.g. Herman and Shan, 2011; Laing and Christeller, 2004). If protease inhibitors are not used, the justification should be provided. Sufficient information including the justification for the choice of other buffer components (e.g. other additives) should also be given.

4.2. Quantification of the NEPs from GM plant tissues

The analytical method to quantify the extracted NEPs from the different GM plant tissues should be robust and 'fit for purpose'. To confirm this, a number of method parameters (Section 4.2.1) should be validated to demonstrate the suitability of the method and sufficient information on these parameters should be provided.

Some additional elements associated with the analytical method should also be considered (Section 4.2.2) and sufficient information on these elements should also be provided. Any modifications made to the developed method should be discussed and considered for the validation experiments.

In cases where a commercially available assay has been used, some of the validation experiments may be omitted. However, sufficient explanation should be provided on which parameters were validated by the manufacturer.

4.2.1. Validation and quality parameters of the analytical method

A number of international guidelines have already been published containing extensive details on the experimental parameters that should be assessed in order to validate a bioanalytical method (e.g. FAO, 2010; EMA, 2011; FDA, 2018; Grothaus et al., 2006; ICH, 2005; ISO, 2013; Jenkins et al., 2015; Lipton et al., 2000). Where applicable, the principles described in these documents should be considered by the applicant. The sections below provide details on some of these validation parameters that are considered the most relevant when assessing the analytical method used for the quantification of NEP(s) produced in GM plants.

4.2.1.1. Sensitivity

The sensitivity of the analytical method is determined by establishing the limit of detection as well as the lower and upper limits of quantification (LLOQ and ULOQ, respectively) that define the method's quantitative range. How these experimental factors were defined and validated should be described and information on the following elements should be provided:

- Quality of the standard (calibration) curve: the produced standard curve forms the basis for determining the quantity of the NEP extracted from the GM plant tissue(s). A complete description of how the calibration curve was derived, including any identified critical parameters, should be provided.
- Establishing the quantitative range: information should be provided on how the standard curve was used to define the quantitative range (LLOQ and ULOQ) for each analysed tissue matrix. Measurements of the extracted NEP levels from the GM plant tissues should normally fall within the middle of the quantitative range and the applicant should clearly indicate any



measured values that are close to the LLOQ or ULOQ and discuss the impact of such results. Dilutional linearity should be demonstrated for tested samples above the ULOQ.

• Limit of detection: can be determined theoretically or empirically and a number of validation methods are reported in the literature (e.g. Armbruster and Pry, 2008; EMA, 2011). Either approach is acceptable as long as an adequate description is provided of how it was defined for each tissue matrix analysed.

The applicant should also discuss any other possible limitations such as those arising from the quality of the used reagents (e.g. antibody, extraction buffer) as well as the magnitude and possible impact of false positive and false negative measurements.

4.2.1.2. Matrix effects

The analytical method may be significantly influenced by components in the tissue extract resulting in a non-specific response commonly referred to as a 'matrix effect' which is one of the parameters that could affect the method accuracy (EMA, 2011; FDA, 2018; Jenkins et al., 2015; Herman and Shan, 2011). In order to assess whether there are any matrix effects, it should be demonstrated that the analytical method is not significantly affected by the presence of matrix components. To do this, the established NEP-specific standard curve should be verified for each tissue matrix analysed. If significant matrix effects are identified, appropriate matrix dilutions should be applied. If dilution does not eliminate matrix effects, alternative methods should be explored. The acceptance criteria for an observed matrix effect should be clearly described, including an adequate justification for any applied dilution factors for the tested plant matrices.

4.2.1.3. Specificity

If there are proteins present in the matrix that are similar to the target NEP (e.g. endogenous protein or another NEP produced in the GM plant) they might interfere with the NEP-specific quantification method thereby affecting its specificity (e.g. EMA, 2011; Grothaus et al., 2006). In the case of antibody-based methods, the NEP quantification may be impacted by cross-reactivity of the used antibodies with such proteins, whereas in the case of MS-based methods, the quantification may be impacted by the presence of interfering peptides. This should be quantified using appropriate approaches and must be taken into account to estimate the levels of the NEP.

For antibody-based methods in particular, information should also be provided on the antibody's ability to detect certain forms of the NEP in the test samples (e.g. if only the native form of the NEP can be detected).

4.2.1.4. Repeatability

Method repeatability should be validated by determining the variation between replicate NEP level measurements (e.g. ISO, 2013; Schmidt and Alarcon, 2011). It should be assessed 'within-run (intra) assay' and 'between-run (inter) assay' to determine the coefficient of variation for the measured NEP levels. Intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variation are related to the variation occurring within an assay and to the variation occurring between separate assays, respectively. The acceptance criteria for the observed coefficient of variation should be clearly described and discussed in the context of the repeatability of the methods used.

4.2.2. Additional considerations for the analytical method

In addition to the aspects described above for the validation of the analytical method, sufficient information on a number of additional elements should be provided by the applicant so that EFSA can comprehensively perform its assessment on the provided NEP quantification data.

4.2.2.1. Reference standards

Sufficient information should be provided to demonstrate that the reference protein (reference standard) used as a surrogate of the NEP expressed in the GM plant is suitable for its intended use.

The reference protein used (usually produced in alternative expression systems such as bacteria) should be equivalent to the NEP expressed in the GM plant with respect to its molecular and



biochemical properties. Methods such as western blot analysis, MS or activity assays can be used to evaluate equivalence in terms of molecular mass, amino acid sequence, immunoreactivity, function, etc. For antibody-based analytical approaches such as ELISA and western blot analysis, equivalence in immunoreactivity is critical for method validation.

For MS-based analytical methods such as LC-MS/MS, additional reference standards are used such as stable-isotope-labelled analogues of the full-length or any surrogate peptide(s) of the target NEP (internal standard). Sufficient information on these reference standards including a justification for the choice should be provided.

In addition, information should be provided on the purity and concentration of the reference standard(s) and the methods used to determine them. Protein concentration determination using two independent methods is recommended for reference proteins (e.g. a non-colorimetric method such as amino acid analysis and a colorimetric method such as a Bradford assay, e.g. Noble and Bailey, 2009).

Proteins (or peptides) used as reference standards may denature, aggregate or degrade during the different experimental steps or during storage. Thus, information on their stability under testing and storage (short- and/or long-term) conditions should be provided.

4.2.2.2. Reference plant materials

Reference plant materials used as control samples (e.g. non-GM plant matrix spiked with a reference protein or non-GM plant matrix alone) should be treated under the same testing and storage conditions as the GM plant materials intended for analysis.

4.2.2.3. Antibodies

For the determination of NEP levels in GM plants by antibody-based methods, information should be provided on the used antibody(ies) including:

- Type of antibody and production system: information should be provided on the nature of the antibody(ies) (i.e. monoclonal or polyclonal) as well as on the production host. The suitability of the antibodies should be justified, in particular for sandwich ELISAs that require the use of two antibodies.
- Antigen used for antibody production: information on the antigen (e.g. similarity to the GM plant-produced NEP) should be provided. If a peptide is used as the antigen, its sequence should be provided including a justification for the peptide choice (e.g. length, physicochemical properties, amino acid composition). In addition, when possible, information should be provided on the sample used as the antigen (e.g. purity, denatured protein extracted from a sodium dodecyl sulfate gel or purified protein in solution).
- Antibody stability: information should be provided on the functional stability of the chosen antibodies under the experimental conditions of the analytical method (e.g. assay buffer, temperature, or incubation times).

4.2.2.4. Stability of plant material and tissue extracts

Information on the stability of the NEP(s) in analysed plant tissue extracts should be provided as regards storage and assay conditions (e.g. time, temperature, freeze/thaw cycles). In addition, information should be provided on the stability of NEPs in the plant material intended for analysis. Any possible impact due to plant tissue extract/plant material instability on NEP level determination (e.g protein degradation or aggregation) should be discussed.

4.2.2.5. Specific information requirements for MS-based methods

In addition to the information on the internal standard(s) used, information on some additional elements should be provided for MS-based methods. These include information on the choice and performance characteristics of the surrogate and monitoring peptides used (biochemical properties, detectability, etc), enzymatic digestion efficiency, protein/peptide enrichment steps (e.g. affinity capture), 'carry over' and ionisation/fragmentation efficiency (Kruve et al., 2015a,b; Jenkins et al., 2015, Parker and Borchers, 2014, Rauh, 2012; van den Broek et al., 2013). Some of these aspects are



associated with the peptide/protein recovery which should be thoroughly evaluated. In addition, sufficient information should be provided on the computational methods used (Gatto et al., 2016).

4.2.2.6. Analysis of processed food/feed

In cases where the analytical method aims to quantify NEP levels in processed food and/or feed products, additional/alternative information may be needed. Processed plant products can be derived after various chemical, physical or enzymatic treatments which may cause significant biochemical, compositional and/or structural changes to the target NEP(s). Thus, adequate information should be provided to demonstrate that the chosen analytical method is 'fit for purpose' (e.g. choice of suitable antibodies used in the case of antibody-based methods).

4.3. Description/reporting of the information

This section outlines the type of information that should be included in a GM plant application submitted to EFSA as regards the description and reporting of information on the samples, methodology and resulting data on the determination of NEP levels in GM plants. It is recommended that when possible, data should be summarised (e.g. tabulated):

Information on the samples

- A description of how the plant material was collected including the number of analysed plants.
- A description of the nature of the test materials (e.g. crop variety, developmental stage).
- A description of all plant/tissue treatments (e.g. herbicide treatment).
- Any relevant certificates of analysis (e.g. characterisation of the reference standard(s)).
- Any sample contamination and a discussion of possible impact on the results.
- A description of the stability of the NEP(s) in analysed tissue extracts under storage and assay conditions and of plant material intended for analysis.

Information on the experimental methods

- A description of all the experimental protocols including those for method validation.
- A description of all the equipment and reagents used.
- All critical methodological parameters with any associated limitations and method deviations.
- Any relevant standard operating procedures (SOPs) should be referenced; if any SOPs contain information not sufficiently described in the provided information then these SOPs should also be submitted.

Information on data reporting and data analysis methods

- A description of all data analysis methods including the number of replicates for all the steps and the model fitting method(s) to produce standard curves.
- Representative standard curves should be included and sufficiently described.
- A description of how the protein concentrations used for the standard curve (e.g. ng/ml) were used to deduce the values for NEP levels in the analysed tissues (e.g. µg/g tissue).
- Data should be clearly summarised (i.e. tabulated) for each NEP measured in the different tissues of the GM plant. NEP levels should be calculated taking into account the determined extraction efficiency for each tissue and these calculations should be clearly described.
- Besides those cases for which it may not be technically possible (e.g. for pollen tissue), NEP levels should be reported both on a fresh and on a dry weight basis. A description of the step(s) to convert the values from fresh weight- to dry weight-based should also be provided.
- Data reporting should include those generated from method validation (e.g. data produced from inter- and intra-assay runs) and should be summarised (e.g. tabulated) and included as appendices to the main method validation report.



- Summarised NEP level values derived from analysis using descriptive statistics.
- The number of test samples within the quantitative range and total sample number used in data analysis (i.e. `N' number) should be clearly indicated.
- All the acceptance criteria defined for the different experimental steps (e.g. coefficient of variation to assess repeatability) and discussion of any possible impact resulting from data that fell outside of these criteria.

References

- Andreasson U, Perret-Liaudet A, van Waalwijk van Doorn LJ, Blennow K, Chiasserini D, Engelborghs S, Fladby T, Genc S, Kruse N, Kuiperij HB, Kulic L, Lewczuk P, Mollenhauer B, Mroczko B, Parnetti L, Vanmechelen E, Verbeek MM, Winblad B, Zetterberg H, Koel-Simmelink M and Teunissen CE, 2015. A Practical Guide to Immunoassay Method Validation. Frontiers in neurology, 19(6), 179. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00179.
- Armbruster DA and Pry T, 2008. Limit of Blank, Limit of Detection and Limit of Quantitation. The Clinical Biochemist. Reviews. 29(Suppl 1), S49–S52.
- Crespo AL, Spencer TA, Nekl E, Pusztai-Carey M, Moar WJ and Siegfried BD, 2008. Comparison and validation of methods to quantify Cry1Ab toxin from *Bacillus thuringiensis* for standardization of insect bioassays. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 74(1), 130-5.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2014. Indicative timelines for submitting additional or supplementary information to EFSA during the risk assessment process of regulated products. EFSA Journal 2014;12(1):3553, 37 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.3553.
- EFSA GMO Panel (EFSA Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms), 2010. Guidance on the environmental risk assessment of genetically modified plants. EFSA Journal 2010;8(11):1879. 111 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1879.
- EFSA GMO Panel (EFSA Panel on Genetically Modified Organisms), 2011. Guidance for risk assessment of food and feed from genetically modified plants. EFSA Journal 2011;9(5):2150, 37 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2150.
- EMA (European Medicines Agency), 2011. Guideline on bioanalytical method validation. EMA, London. Available http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2011/08/WC500109 686.pdf.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations), 2010. Codex CAC/GL 74-2010. Guidelines on performance criteria and validation of methods for detection, identification and quantification of specific DNA sequences and specific proteins in foods. FAO, Rome. Available online: http://www.fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius/codex-texts/guidelines/en/
- FDA (Food and Drug Administration), 2018. Bioanalytical method validation. Guidance for industry.FDA,SilverSpring,MD.Availableonline:https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/Guidance/ucm070107.pdf.
- Gatto L, Hansen KD, Hoopmann MR, Hermjakob H, Kohlbacher O and Beyer A, 2016. Testing and Validation of Computational Methods for Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Proteome Research, 15(3), 809-14.
- Grothaus GD, Bandla M, Currier T, Giroux R, Jenkins GR, Lipp M, Shan G, Stave JW and Pantellam V, 2006. Immunoassay as an analytical tool in agricultural biotechnology. Journal of AOAC International, 89(4), 913–928.
- Herman R-A and Shan G, 2011. Chapter 9: Data interpretation and sources of error validation. In: Shan G (Ed.). Immunoassays in Agricultural Biotechnology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ.



- ICH (International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use), 2005. ICH Harmonized Tripartite Guideline. Validation of analytical procedures: text and methodology Q2(R1). ICH, Geneva. Available online: https://www.ich.org/fileadmin/Public_Web_Site/ICH_Products/Guidelines/Quality/Q2_R1/Step4/Q2 _R1__Guideline.pdf.
- ISO (International Organization for Standardization), 2013. ISO 21572 Food stuffs—molecular biomarker analysis—protein-based methods. 2nd Edition. ISO, Geneva.
- Jenkins R, Duggan JX, Aubry AF, Zeng J, Lee JW, Cojocaru L, Dufield D, Garofolo F, Kaur S, Schultz GA, Xu K, Yang Z, Yu J, Zhang YJ and Vazvaei F, 2015. Recommendations for validation of LC-MS/MS bioanalytical methods for protein biotherapeutics. AAPS Journal, 17(1), 1-16.
- Kruve A, Rebane R, Kipper K, Oldekop ML, Evard H, Herodes K, Ravio P and Leito I, 2015a. Tutorial review on validation of liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry methods: Part I. Analytica Chimica Acta, 870, 29-44.
- Kruve A, Rebane R, Kipper K, Oldekop ML, Evard H, Herodes K, Ravio P and Leito I, 2015b. Tutorial review on validation of liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry methods: Part II. Analytica Chimica Acta, 870, 8-28.
- Laing W and Christeller J, 2004. Extraction of Proteins from Plant Tissues. Current Protocols in Protein Science, 38, 4.7.1-4.7.7.
- Liebler DC and Zimmerman LJ, 2013. Targeted quantitation of proteins by mass spectrometry. Biochemistry, 52(22), 3797-3806.
- Lipton CR, Dautlick JX, Grothaus GD, Hunst PL, Magin KM, Mihaliak CA, Rubio FM and Stave JW, 2000. Guidelines for the validation and use of immunoassays for determination of introduced proteins in biotechnology enhanced crops and derived food ingredients. Food and Agricultural Immunology, 12(2), 153–164.
- Martínez-García JF, Monte E and Quail PH, 1999. A simple, rapid and quantitative method for preparing Arabidopsis protein extracts for immunoblot analysis. The Plant Journal, 20(2), 251-257.
- Matsuo Y, Asakawa K, Toda T, Katayama S, 2006. A rapid method for protein extraction from fission yeast. Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 70(8), 1992-4.
- Noble JE and Bailey MJA, 2009. Chapter 8: Quantitation of Protein. In: Burgess RR and Deutscher MP (Eds.). Guide to Protein purification in Methods in Enzymology. 2nd Ed. Volume 463, 73-95. Academic Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Pan S, Aebersold, R, Chen R, Rush, J, Goodlett DR, McIntosh M-W, Zhang J and Brentnall TA, 2009. Mass spectrometry based targeted protein quantification: methods and applications. Journal od Proteome Research, 8(2), 787–797.
- Parker CE and Borchers CH, 2014. Mass spectrometry based biomarker discovery, verification, and validation-quality assurance and control of protein biomarker assays. Molecular Oncology, 8(4), 840-58.
- Rauh M, 2012. LC-MS/MS for protein and peptide quantification in clinical chemistry. Journal of chromatography. B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences, 883-884, 59-67.
- Schmidt J and Alarcon C, 2011. Chapter 6: Immunoassay method validation. In: Shan G (Ed.). Immunoassays in Agricultural Biotechnology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ.
- Settlage SB, Eble JE, Bhanushali JK, Cheever ML, Gao AG, Goldstrohm DA, Hill R, Hu TX, Powley CR, Unger A and Shan G, 2017. Validation Parameters for Quantitating Specific Proteins Using ELISA or LC-MS/MS: Survey Results. Food Analytical Methods, 10(5), 1339-1348.
- van den Broek I, Niessen WMA and van Dongen WD, 2013. Bioanalytical LC–MS/MS of protein-based biopharmaceuticals. Journal of chromatography. B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences, 929, 161-179.



Abbreviations

- GM Genetically modified
- GMO Genetically modified organism
- LC-MS Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
- LLOQ Lower limit of quantification
- MS Mass spectrometry
- NEP Newly expressed protein
- SOP Standard operating procedure
- ULOQ Upper limit of quantification